1989

# Hi-Country Estate Homeowners Association, a Utah corporation v. Steven K. Maxfield : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTION**

This appeal is taken pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Sec. 78-2-2(3)(j) and Sec. 3 of Article VIII of the Utah Constitution.

### **NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This appeal is taken from Summary Judgment entered against Steven K. Maxfield (Maxfield) Appellant, by the Third District Court, State of Utah, in favor of the Hi-Country Estate Homeowners Association, a Utah corporation, (Association), Appellee.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Was the prior trial before the Honorable Scott Daniels, in the case of Richard L. James, et al. v. John W. Davies, et al, Case No C-81-8560, res judicata and/or collateral estoppel precluding Judge Hanson from entering Summary Judgment?

2. Was "equitable servitude" a proper legal basis for granting Summary Judgment rather than quantum meruit (unjust enrichment)?

3. Was the granting of the Association's Motion for Summary Judgment improper and prejudicial error, in that, there was no basis for attorney's fees either in contract or by statute and there existed genuine issues of material fact as to the reasonableness and necessity of assessments?

### DETERMINATIVE RULES

This case is governed by Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Association obtained judgment in Fifth Circuit Court, Salt Lake County, Sandy Department, Small Claims Division against Steven K. Maxfield, ("Maxfield") for an annual homeowners assessment of One Hundred and Fifteen Dollars (\$115.00) per year for upkeep of roads, utilities and general administration. (R.2, 8). Maxfield appealed to the Third District Court. (R.4). The parties then stipulated that Maxfield's case and several other Homeowner's appeals could be consolidated and assigned to the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson, C84-5500. (R.13). The Association would file a new complaint as though initially filed in the District Court and the action would, in all respects, be treated as initially filed in District Court. (R.14). Thereafter, the Association filed a new complaint against the Homeowners including Maxfield seeking (1) Declaratory judgment (2) Account Stated (3) Quantum Meruit and (4) Open Account. (R.15, 17, 18, 19, 20). The District Court, by Order dated March 12, 1986, approved the stipulation and allowed the action to be consolidated and initially filed. (R.23,24).

Maxfield answered and counterclaimed and, among other things, alleged that Judge Daniels, in a prior action, Richard L. James, et al, v. John W. Davies, C81-8560 (in which action Maxfield was also a Plaintiff), after trial, held that an

amendment to the restrictive covenants (Add. B) which required Homeowners to be members of the Association and allowed the Association to assess Homeowners (Maxfield) was void and unenforceable. (R.31 Para. 5, R.32 Para. 6, R.33 Para. 14, Add. A).

The District Court ordered the parties to submit uncontested and contested of facts and brief the legal issues. (R.269, 270).

The District Court on October 9, 1987, after argument ruled, that if there was a basis for levy, the case was resolved and if not the matter would go to trial on the claim of unjust enrichment. (R.380). The lower Court by Memorandum Decision, dated November 17, 1987, ruled on the disputed legal issues and found that the Davis case (supra) did not constitute collateral estoppel and/or res judicata that would prohibit the Plaintiff (Association) from levying assessments and the principal of "equitable servitude" applies entitling the Association to make reasonable assessments even if the original covenants and purposes of the Association did not allow such assessments. (R.382, 383).

On November 3, 1988, the lower court entered Summary Judgment in favor of the Association against Maxfield in the principle amount of One Thousand One Hundred Seventy-Seven Dollars and Ninety-Nine Cents (\$1,177.99), costs of Twelve Dollars and Fifty Cents (\$12.50) for a total judgment of One Thousand One Hundred Ninety Dollars and Forty Nine Cents (\$1,190.49) with legal interest and attorney's fees of Three



Thousand Two Hundred and Sixty Dollars (\$3,260.00) jointly and severally among all Defendants. (R.473, 474).

Maxfield made motions under Rules 59 and 60 U.R.C.P. seeking to amend the judgment and for relief from the judgment which were denied on March 24, 1989. (R.503, 504, 514, 515).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Maxfield is a homeowner in Hi-Country Estates, a subdivision that was begun in 1969 or 1970. (R.82).

The developer initially drafted restrictive covenants covering the subdivision in 1970. (R.318). These restrictive covenants dealt only with the types of uses and structures in connection with the lots and made no provision for a homeowner's association, maintenance of common areas, assessments and collection of assessments. (R.312-318, Ex. C).

Since the first covenants did not deal at all with the Association, an amendment to the covenants was drafted in 1973 which provided for a homeowner's association, maintenance of common areas, assessments and their enforcement. (R.374, Ex. A, Add. B). The original restrictive covenants and the amendment were both recorded on March 22, 1974. (R.90). Hi-Country Estates Homeowner's Association filed Articles of Incorporation on May 17, 1973 and the Certificate of Incorporation was issued by the State of Utah on January 5, 1974. (R.360).

For several years things were tranquil between the lot owners and the Association. Control of the Association rotated

among the membership. Beginning in 1980, however, a group of property owners obtained proxies from owners of undeveloped lots and seized control. Exercising their control, and over the loud protests of many lot owners, they began a vigorous program of suing lot owners, at association expense, to force compliance with the restrictive covenants. Again over loud protests of some lot owners, the controlling members appeared at planning and zoning hearings in a representative capacity for all residents within the subdivision. At the annual meeting in 1983, the protestors claimed that these actions were beyond the authority granted in the restrictive covenants and the grant of power in the Articles of the Association. The protestors demanded that such actions stop and when the controlling members, exercising their captive proxies, refused, the protestors, including Maxfield, (as Plaintiff in the prior action) initiated suit in the Third District Court of Salt Lake County, assigned to the Honorable Scott Daniels, entitled Richard L. James, et al v. John W. Davies, et al. Case No.C81-8560. (R.360).

At trial, extensive materials and testimony were introduced tracing the development of the subdivision and the role played by the Association in that development. A central issue of that case was the source and scope of the authority of the Association. After a lengthy trial, Judge Daniels, on February 17, 1984, ruled that the amendment to the protective covenants (R. 374 Ex. A, Add. A pg. 2 l. 18-25) that created the Association, were void and unenforceable and, therefore, there

was no lawfully constituted Association. Judge Daniels ruled that the amendment was not properly enacted because it was before the expiration of the term of the original restrictive covenants in 1995 and the amendment lacked the consent of the equitable owners of the property. (Emphasis added) (R.351, Add. A, pg. 2 1.20-25). Judge Daniels also ruled that the directors of the Association acted in an ultra vires manner (sic) in attempting to enforce the restrictive covenants. (R.352, Add. A, pg. 3 1.14-15).

No appeal was taken by the parties to the judgment and findings of Judge Daniels. (R.339, 346). The Association, nevertheless, continued to levy assessments and bring claims against delinquent lot owners in small claims court although it had no legal authority to do so. (R.5). Maxfield refused to pay assessments; refused to be a member of the illegally formed association; refused the services of the association and denied liability for payment of assessment consistent with Judge Daniel's ruling. (R.86, 87).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Summary Judgment is a harsh remedy which should only be employed in cases where there clearly is no genuine issue of material fact which should go to trial by the trier of fact. Because of its harsh result, it should be employed cautiously by the court and all doubts should be resolved in favor of the party moved against, in this case, Maxfield.

Judge Hanson erred by failing to find res judicata and/or

collateral estoppel as a complete bar to the Association's cause of action against Maxfield based upon the prior trial before Judge Daniels in James v. Davies, C-81-8560 and his ruling that the Association had no right to assess or collect assessments against the homeowners and Maxfield had a right based upon that ruling to disassociate himself from the Association and refuse its services.

The trial court granted Summary Judgment on the theory of "equitable servitude" which has no application in this case where the Association is attempting to assess and levy assessments against homeowners. Equitable servitude is a restriction or easement against real property which effects its use or gives another certain rights to it based in equity. Davies, C81-8560 and his ruling that the Association had no right to assess or collect assessments against the homeowners and Maxfield had a right based upon that ruling to disassociate himself from the Association and refuse its services.

Even if the trial judge properly applied the "equitable servitude" theory there is no legal basis for attorneys fees and a trial would have been necessitated to determine whether the assessments against Maxfield were reasonable and necessary.

#### POINT I

THE PRIOR TRIAL BEFORE THE HONORABLE SCOTT DANIELS, C81-8560, WAS RES JUDICATA AND/OR COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL PRECLUDING JUDGE HANSON FROM ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT

In Searle Bros. v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689 (Utah 1978), at 690, the Utah Supreme Court discussed res judicata and/or collateral

estoppel as follows:

"In general, a divorce decree, like other final judgment is conclusive as to the parties and their privies and operates as a bar to any subsequent action. In order for res judicata to apply, both suits must involve the same parties or their privies and also the same cause of action; and this precludes the relitigation of all issues that could have been litigated as well as those that were, in fact, litigated in the prior action. If the subsequent suit involved different parties, those parties cannot be bound by the prior judgment."

"Collateral estoppel, on the other hand, arises from a different cause of action and prevents parties or their privies from relitigating facts and issues in the second suit that were fully litigated in the first suit. This means that the plea of collateral estoppel can be asserted only against a party in the subsequent suit who was also a party or in privity with a party in the prior suit."  
[Emphasis added, citations omitted]

Even though a later claim may be different than in a prior case, if the facts required to prove the claim in the later case are the same facts previously litigated, res judicata will operate to prevent relitigation. In Krofcheck v. Downey State Bank, 580 P.2d 243 (Utah 1978), the court applied the doctrine of res judicata to uphold the dismissal of a Plaintiff's action against an attorney based upon an alleged false affidavit where, in a previous case, the court had rejected the Plaintiff's assertion of the falsity of the attorney's affidavit as a defense. In Schaer v. State of Utah, 657 P.2d 1337 (Utah 1983), the court refused to apply the doctrine of res judicata and stated:

"Accordingly, we have determined that res judicata is not applicable to the present case because it is based on a different claim, demand, or cause of action than that of the 1967 litigation. The two causes of action rest on different states of facts and evidence of a different kind of character is necessary to sustain the two causes of action."

Moreover, the evidence of the two causes of action relates to the status of the property in two completely different and separate time periods. Thus, the doctrine of res judicata does not apply to preclude the Plaintiff from maintaining his present cause of action."

From the foregoing, clearly res judicata is applicable to this case:

**a. Same parties.** Although all of the parties in the James v. Davies case are not parties in this case, all of the parties in this case were also parties in the James v. Davies case and each were represented therein by counsel.

**b. Same issues.** In their fourth cause of action in the James v. Davies case (R.326, 329), the Plaintiffs Apellant herein alleged, inter alia:

"27. There presently exists on record certain protective covenants against the property contained in the Hi-Country Estate Subdivision.

28. Said protective covenants are illegal and void because they were not properly enacted and because they are vague.

29. There presently exists in record an amendment to the protective covenants mentioned above.

30. Said amendment is illegal and void because it was not properly enacted pursuant to the terms of the original protective covenants and because the amendment is also vague. [Exhibit J to Plaintiff's Memorandum].

In their prayer for relief (R.331), they state:

3. Pursuant to the Plaintiff's Fourth Cause of Action, for an order determining that the protective covenants and amendments thereto filed against the Hi-Country Estate Subdivision are unlawful and shall be removed."

Attached to this brief as Addendum B is the Amendment to the Protective Covenants. Without question those covenants deal

specifically with the authority of the Association to levy assessments and to lien the property owner's land to secure collection of those levies, the central issue in this case.

Even if Judge Daniels had found that the amendment had been improperly enacted, he could have found the covenants valid servitude in the property and denied the prayer for relief therein that the covenants "be removed". Clearly, these issues were litigated or should have been litigated in the James v. Davies case.

**c. Final judgment.** Judge Daniels ruling, Add. A, clearly upheld the basic protective covenants and just as clearly struck down the amendment thereto. Since his judgment therein was not appealed, it is final and binding.

**d. Conclusion.** The doctrine of res judicata should be applied to bar relitigation of whether or not covenants running with the land or equitable servitude thereto, authorize the Association to impose and collect assessments.

Although the doctrine of res judicata is proper to this case, the Association's claim would similarly be barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. In Searle, the court listed the elements of collateral estoppel as:

1. Was the issue decided in the prior adjudication identical with the one presented in the action in question?
2. Was there a final judgment on the merits?
3. Was the party against whom the plea is asserted a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication?
4. Was the issue in the first case competently, fully and fairly litigated? [at 91].

Analyzing this case in light of the foregoing, clearly requirements 2, 3 and 4 are met. Judge Daniels ruling in James v. Davies, Add. A, clearly indicates that the issues were competently, fully and fairly litigated. The basic question litigated in James v. Davies was what authority, if any, does the Association derive from covenants. Judge Daniel's ruling clearly indicates that he decided "none". Clearly that identical question is presented in this case since if the Association derives no authority from covenants, certainly it does not derive any power to make mandatory assessments. Clearly the first requirement for collateral estoppel has been met and application of the doctrine would be applicable in this case.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE SERVITUDE WHICH HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CASE.

Judge Hanson in his memorandum decision dated November 17, 1987, specifically ruled that;

"Secondly, the Court having determined that the principal of equitable servitude applies in this case, the Plaintiff (Association) would be entitled to make reasonable assessments for expenses related to the common areas, even if the original covenants and purposes of the Homeowners Association did not allow such an assessment. (R.383).

The Court in arriving at this conclusion based its decision on the doctrine of equitable servitude because, "The Defendants enjoy the use of the common areas and other amenities held in common for the subdivision." (R.382, 383). The Court admitted that if recovery on a theory of quantum meruit (unjust enrichment) was sought a trial would be necessary. (R.383 T 528



pg. 49 l. 11-25).

The trial Court erred by labelling unjust enrichment or quantum meruit as equitable servitude in the granting of Summary Judgment rather than allowing Maxfield a trial.

Covenants, conditions and restrictions which limit or restrict the use an owner may make of his land, as for example, those composed in a general plan of tract reservations, are sometimes referred to as negative easements. However, these are not true easements because they are not interests in land within the context of the definition of an easement. They arise by virtue of contract and are more properly referred to as equitable servitude. (Security Title, Title Standards Manual, 1700 A para. 7, Add. C). Even when a covenant does not run with the land, equity will sometimes enforce the obligation by an injunction against breach. The burden of the covenant thus becomes an "equitable easement or servitude" on the land of the covenantor. Restatement of Property Sec. 539. The real basis for the enforcement of equitable servitude is the doctrine that one who takes land with notice of a restriction thereon cannot in equity and good conscience be permitted to violate that restriction. Brigham Young University Legal Studies, J. Reuben Clark Law School, 1978, Summary of Utah Real Property Law, Vol 1. pg. 136.

The doctrine of equitable servitude is a restriction or limitation on the use of real property but by definition cannot create an Association or allow the Association to assess its members which must be created by another means. The amendment to

restrictive covenants that created the Association was held by Judge Daniels to be void because it did not have the consent of the equitable owners. Thus its creation was defective and cannot be saved by calling it an equitable servitude. Van Deusen, et al, v. Ruth, et al., 125 S.W.2d, (1938).

### POINT III

THERE IS NO BASIS FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES AND THE ISSUE OF THE REASONABLENESS AND NECESSITY OF ASSESSMENTS SHOULD HAVE BEEN DECIDED BY THE TRIER OF FACT.

The trial judge awarded the Plaintiff \$ 3,260.00 for attorney's fees jointly and severally against the Defendants when he granted Summary Judgment. The attorney's fees have been satisfied with the exception of \$815.00 which the Association is seeking against Maxfield.

The general rule is that attorney's fees are recoverable if provided for by either contract or statute. Missouri Pac. R.R. Co v. Winburn Title Mfg. Co. 461 F.2d 984, 989 (8th Cir. 1972). The Utah Supreme Court has followed that rule since at least 1953. Hawkins v. Perry, 123 Ut. 16, 27, 253 P.2d 372, 377 (1953). Turtle Mgmt., Inc. v. Haggis Mgmt., 645 P.2d 667 (Ut. 1982). An award of contractually based attorney's fees must be based on a valid contract and incurred in the enforcement of express contractual covenants. Cluff v. Culmer, 556 P.2d 498, 499 (Utah 1976). Since there was no contract or statutory basis for attorney's fees and no exception could be found for awarding attorney's fees under an equitable servitude doctrine, an award of attorney's fees is without basis and in error.

Judge Hanson admitted that if the assessments were recoverable under an unjust enrichment (quantum meruit) theory a trial would be necessary to determine if the charges were necessary and reasonable. (T. 528 pg. 49 l. 11-21). Since this is the only theory that a Summary Judgment could have been awarded, Maxfield should have been allowed to try the matter on these issues.

#### CONCLUSION

The Summary Judgment entered by the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson, should be set aside and judgment entered in favor of Maxfield, no cause of action, on the grounds and for the reasons that the Association's cause of action is barred because of res judicata and/or collateral estoppel by Judge Daniel's decision in Richard L. James, et al, v. John W. Davies, et al., Case No, C81-8560, or in the alternative the case should be remanded to the trial court for trial to determine if under a theory of quantum meruit (unjust enrichment) the Association is entitled to recover and if so whether the assessments are reasonable and necessary with an instruction to the trial court that the Association is not entitled to attorney's fees as they are not provided by contract or statute and for Maxfield's cost of appeal.