1989

Hi-Country Estate Homeowner Association, a Utah corporation v. Steven K. Maxfield : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Findings of Fact entered by the Third District Court in this action are not clearly erroneous and therefore the judgment should be affirmed.

Plaintiff's claim is not barred by the doctrines of res judicata or collateral estoppel because the issues raised in the prior case of James v. Davies, supra, were different and Judge Daniels made no finding or decision with regard to the legality or appropriateness of the Association's power to levy assessments against property owners or members of the corporation. Further, Judge Daniels made no decision regarding the validity or legality of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association in the lawsuit known as James v. Davies.

Defendant Maxfield took ownership of his property within the Hi-Country Estates subdivision with notice of the restrictions placed upon his land by the protective covenants and Articles of Incorporation of the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association and therefore, these covenants and Articles constitute a valid and continuing equitable servitude upon his property allowing the Association to levy assessments against him and his property.

The Articles of Incorporation and bylaws of the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association constitute a legal and binding contract between the Association and Defendant Maxfield. Therefore, the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association is legally entitled to levy assessments against Defendant Maxfield pursuant to the terms of the Articles, Bylaws and in connection with the Association's duties to provide for the maintenance, upkeep and preservation of the streets, roads and common areas within the subdivision and, further to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents within the Hi-Country Estates subdivision.

Plaintiff Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association is legally entitled to be awarded attorneys fees against Defendant Maxfield by virtue of the contract which exists between the Plaintiff Association and Maxfield as created by the Articles of

Incorporation and Bylaws of the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association.

ARGUMENT

THE JUDGMENT OF THE DISTRICT COURT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT WHICH WOULD PRECLUDE THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT. THEREFORE, THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

POINT I

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS ARE NOT BARRED BY THE DOCTRINES OF RES JUDICATA OR COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL

In the Defendants' answer to the amended complaint in this action Defendants' raised as separate affirmative defenses the equitable doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel. In order to determine which, or if either, of these doctrines is to be properly applied, one must focus on whether the second claim, demand or cause of action claimed to be barred is different from its alleged predecessor.

In the case of Searle Brothers v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689, 690 (Utah 1978), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

In order for res judicata to apply both suits must involve the same parties or their privies and also the same cause of action; and if it applies, it precludes the relitigation of all issues that could have been litigated as well as those that were litigated in the prior action ... (Emphasis added).

Collateral estoppel on the other hand arises from a different cause of action and prevents

parties or their privies from relitigating facts and issues in a second suit that were fully litigated in the first suit.

Although the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel are closely related, they are usually mutually exclusive. When the claim, demand or cause of action is the same in both cases, res judicata applies. But where the claim, demand or cause of action is different in the two cases, then collateral estoppel is applicable. Schaer v. State, by and through Utah Department, 657 P.2d 1337, 1340 (1983).

In the instant case, Defendant's defenses are based upon a prior proceeding, James, et al. v. Davies, et al., filed in November of 1981 in the Third District Court for Salt Lake County, Utah, Civil No. C81-8560. It is clear from a review of the amended complaint in that action that the claims raised in that case do not concern the same cause of action alleged by Plaintiff in this case.

In James, et al. v. Davies, et al., supra, the Plaintiffs alleged certain irregularities in the election of certain directors and the appropriateness and legality of the enforcement of land use restrictions set out in the protective covenants of the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association by the Association and against lot owners. No issue was raised by the Plaintiffs' pleadings in the James v. Davies case regarding the appropriate-

ness or authority of the Association to assess homeowners for road maintenance and other general administration expenses.

In James v. Davies, the District Court looked only to the amended covenants as a source of mandatory membership because that was one of its provisions. However, mandatory membership was not an issue in that litigation. Rather, the Court determined that the original protective covenants recorded against the Hi-Country Estates subdivision were valid and enforceable according to their terms. On the other hand, the Court determined that the amendment to these covenants was invalid because the grantor was not the equity owner of a majority of the property; and because the original covenants prohibited amendment prior to 25 years after their execution. The protective covenants and amended protective covenants are not an issue in this case, nor are they raised or relied upon by the Plaintiffs for the authority to levy assessments against property owners within the subdivision.

The only way res judicata could apply to this action would be if the court stretched the requirement that the prior action involve the same issues that "could or should have been raised therein," Krofcheck v. Downey State Bank, 580 P.2d 243 (Utah 1978), Wheadon v. Pierson, 14 Utah.2d 45, 376 P.2d 946 (1962).

The purpose of the res judicata doctrine is to avoid relitigation of issues and actions which have in fact been previously litigated. At the time the James v. Davies case was filed, there was no issue as to the delinquency of assessments levied but unpaid. Therefore, the issue was never raised before the court and no ruling was made. Additionally, the court in James v. Davies did not deal with or rule upon the validity of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association. Clearly, pursuant to the language of the Articles and Bylaws, the Association is required to levy and collect assessments from members of the organization. Because the issue of assessments and the validity of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws was not raised in the James v. Davies action, the doctrine of res judicata cannot apply.

With regard to the issue of collateral estoppel, a prior decision may be used against a party to preclude a further litigation of the issue by him only when four questions are answered in the affirmative: (1) Was the issue decided in the prior adjudication identical with the one presented in the action in question? (2) Was there a final judgment on the merits? (3) Was the party against whom the plea is asserted a party or in privity with the party in the prior adjudication? (4) Was the issue in

the first case completely, fully and fairly litigated? White Pine Ranches v. Osguthorpe, 731 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1986).

The first requirement; that the issue decided in the prior adjudication be identical with the one presented in the action in question, is not met here. The issue regarding the Association's authority and duty to levy assessments and sue to collect them against members of the Association and lot owners was never raised in the James v. Davies action. Rather, the issues raised in James v. Davies dealt with procedural matters involving the election of directors and the use of protective covenants by the Association to enforce alleged violation of the covenants. Clearly, the issues are not similar to those presented in this case. The only area of convergence between both actions is that Maxfield and the Association were among the 49 parties in the prior action. "This Court has previously stated that the doctrine of collateral estoppel does not apply to issues that merely could have been tried in the prior case, but operates only to issues which were actually asserted and tried in that case." Schaer v. State, by and through Utah Department, supra, citing International Resources v. Dunfield, 599 P.2d 515 (1979).

As previously stated, there was no issue raised as to the appropriateness or legality of the Association's levy of assessments and collection of them in the James v. Davies case. None

of the homeowners were delinquent in the payment of their assessments at that time. Further, the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association were not alleged to be improper or illegally created. Judge Daniels made no ruling with respect to the validity of the Articles and Bylaws which clearly give the Association the authority and duty to levy assessments against lot owners within the subdivision. Since the issue of assessments was not before the court in James v. Davies, the court could not rule on that issue. For this reason the doctrine of collateral estoppel is not applicable to this case.

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE SERVITUDE IS A PROPER LEGAL BASIS FOR THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THIS CASE

In Conclusion of Law No. 5, Judge Hanson determined, "The Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and original protective covenants of the Plaintiff Association constitute a present and continuing equitable servitude upon the property owned by the Defendants." (R.471). "The real basis for the enforcement of equitable servitude is the doctrine that one who takes land with notice of a restriction thereon cannot in equity and good conscience be permitted to violate that restriction." BYU Summary of Utah Real Property Law, Vol.1 (1978), Chapter 4, pg. 136, Sec. 4.18.

In the case at bar, Defendant Maxfield took ownership of his property by way of a trustee's special warranty deed which specifically states that his ownership is "subject to the protective covenants and the Articles of the Homeowners Association." (Emphasis added), (R.322). Therefore, Maxfield had notice of the restrictions placed upon his land by the very language of his deed. The deed specifically refers to the protective covenants and the Articles of Incorporation of the Homeowners Association. Further, Maxfield took ownership of his property subsequent to the recording of these protective covenants the filing of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association.

Maxfield now apparently contends that the District Court intended to allow the Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Association to levy assessments against property owners within the subdivision based upon the doctrines of unjust enrichment or quantum meruit and simply mislabeled these doctrines as equitable servitude. Clearly, that is not the case. Judge Hanson, in his Conclusions of Law, specifically states that the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and original protective covenants of the Association constitute a present and continuing equitable servitude upon the property owned by the defendants. The fact that in his oral ruling Judge Hanson referred to the defendants'

enjoyment of the use of common areas and other amenities does not support Maxfield's claim that the District Court intended to apply unjust enrichment or quantum meruit principles.

Maxfield further contends that "the doctrine of equitable servitude is a restriction or limitation on the use of real property but by definition cannot create an association or allow the association to assess its members which must be created by another means." (Appellant's Brief, pg. 5). The Association has never contended that the doctrine of equitable servitude created the Association. Rather, the Association contends and has contended throughout the action, that it was created by way of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws which were filed with the Lt. Governor's office in 1973.

In Finding of Fact No. 1 Judge Hanson found: "Plaintiff is a non-profit corporation comprised of owners of real property located in the Hi-Country Estates Phase I subdivision located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah." (R. 465). Judge Hanson further found in Finding of Fact No. 4, "The Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws for the Plaintiff corporation are dated January 30, 1972 and were recorded by the original developer of the subdivision on May 17, 1973. The parties have stipulated that the wording of the Articles and Bylaws are not disputed." (Emphasis added), (R.465). The Court specifically found in its

Findings of Fact that one of the purposes of the Plaintiff Association was to maintain and preserve the streets, roads and common areas within the subdivision. It is clear that according to the Articles of Incorporation,

Every person or entity who is a record owner or a fee or undivided fee interest in any lot which is subject by covenants or record to assessment by the Association, including purchasers under contract, shall be a member of the Association . . . Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any lot which is subject to assessment by the Association."

The Articles of Incorporation further charge the Association with a duty to

exercise all of the powers and privileges and to perform all of the duties and obligations of the Association as set forth in that certain protective covenants for Hi-Country Estates. . . (b) Fix, levy, collect and enforce payment by any lawful means, all charges or assessments pursuant to the terms of the protective covenants, as amended, and as provided in the Bylaws adopted by the Association; . . . (R.466).

The Bylaws of the Association charge the Association Board of Directors with certain duties. These duties include:

(c) as more fully provided in the protective covenants, as amended, to: (1) fix the amount of the annual assessment against each lot at least thirty days in advance of each annual assessment; (2) send written notice of each assessment to every owner subject thereto at least thirty days in advance of each annual assessment; (3) foreclose the lien against any property for which assessments are not paid

within thirty days after the due date or to bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same.

The Bylaws of the Association further state in Article XI as follows:

As more fully provided in the protective covenants, as amended, each member is obligated to pay to the Association annual and special assessments which are secured by a continuing lien upon the property against which the assessment is made. Any assessments which are not paid when due shall be delinquent. If the assessment is not paid within thirty days after the due date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the rate of seven percent per annum and the Association may bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same or foreclose the lien against the property, and interest, costs, and reasonable attorneys fees for any such action shall be added to the amount of such assessment. No owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessment provided for herein by non-use of the common area, roads or abandonment of his lot.

It is the Association's position that Defendant Maxfield ownership of his land with notice of the restrictions imposed upon the land by the protective covenants and the Articles of Incorporation of the Homeowners Association. The specific language of the Articles of Incorporation allow the Homeowners Association to levy assessments and collect these assessments from its members, the lot owners within the subdivision. In view of this restriction placed upon the Defendant's property, it was

not necessary for the District Court to reach the issue of unjust enrichment or quantum meruit. Rather, Judge Hanson specifically determined that the protective covenants and Articles of Incorporation constitute an equitable servitude on the property which Defendant Maxfield is subject to. Judge Hanson further found that the language of the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws of the Homeowners Association specifically allowed for the Association to levy assessments against the property owners. It is clearly stated in the Findings of Fact entered by Judge Hanson in this case, "The parties have stipulated that the wording of the Articles and Bylaws are not disputed." (R.465).

"The right to urge enforcement of a servitude against the burdened land 'depends primarily on the covenants having been made for the benefit of other land, either retained by the grantor or part of a perceptible neighborhood scheme.'" Peterson v. Beekmere, Inc., 283 A.2d 911 (N.J. 1971), citing Paullett v. Stanley Stillwell and Sons, Inc., 170 A.2d at 56.

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